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SOCIAL HISTORY 

In the Middle Ages, Hill Deverill’s estates were occupied by lesser knightly tenants, 

and the homes of the peasant families were clustered around the manorial 

farmsteads and the church.254 The manor was acquired by 1462 by William Ludlow 

(d. 1478), possibly a younger brother of Sir Richard Ludlow of Longbridge Deverill. 

William Ludlow rose to prominence through royal service, and represented 

Ludgershall in several Parliaments during the reign of Henry VI.255 He had extensive 

property interests in Salisbury and elsewhere in the county,256 and joined with his 

patrons the Hungerford family in refurbishing the Church of St Thomas, Salisbury, 

where he is buried.257 Members of the family served as justices and sheriffs during 

the 16th and 17th centuries.258 George Ludlow (d. 1580) acquired monastic estates at 

the Dissolution,259 and consolidated his wealth and position through service in the 

household of Edward Seymour, earl of Hertford.260 Sir Edmund Ludlow (d. 1624) 

and his two sons Henry (d. 1639) and Sir Henry (d. 1643) sat in Parliament during 

the late 16th and early 17th centuries.261 The Ludlows were prominent in opposition 

to the policies of the Personal Rule. Henry (d. 1639) was censored by the Privy 

Council for refusing to contribute to the Forced Loan and removed from his 

captaincy of the militia.262 Sir Henry (d. 1643) defaulted on the militia musters of 

1636, and refused a royal request for a loan in 1639.263 This radical streak and 

opposition to the Crown may also explain the decision of Gabriel Ludlow of 
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Baycliffe to emigrate to New England,264 where his brother held colonial office.265 

However, this had not prevented him from profiting through royal service, first as a 

Particular Receiver for the Duchy of Lancaster,266 and then as Deputy Ranger of 

Selwood Forest.267 Sir Henry was elected to one of the county seats in the Long 

Parliament, where he was censured in 1642 for criticism of the King.268 Three of his 

sons, including the future regicide Edmund, took up arms in the Parliamentary 

cause. This Edmund (d. 1693) was elected to replace his father as MP for the county 

in 1646;269 his uncle, also Edmund, had been elected MP for Hindon in 1645.270 

William Ludlow, a younger son of Henry (d. 1639), was a militia commissioner 

during the Interregnum, and sat for Old Sarum in the Parliament of Richard 

Cromwell, when the regicide Edmund was also elected for Hindon.271  

 In their domestic affairs the Ludlows had a reputation for rapaciousness, and 

they frequently resorted to litigation. In the late 16th century the Ludlows were the 

most prosperous of seven large farming households in the parish,272 but the inclosure 

of the parish by Sir Edmund (d. 1624) was said to have reduced their tenant farmers 

to the status of day labourers and paupers.273 The Privy Council was forced to 

intervene in the affairs of Henry Ludlow (d. 1639) when he refused to pay 

maintenance to his eldest son in 1630, and again in 1635 for his treatment of tenants 

on his Hampshire estates.274 This situation was exacerbated by bitter feuding 

between himself, his father and his eldest half-brother, Sir Henry (d. 1643), who he 

believed was receiving more favourable treatment from his father.275 He died leaving 
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his estates heavily in debt.276 This and the family’s actions during the 1640s and 

1650s no doubt account for their decline after the Restoration. Sir Henry Coker (d. 

1692), husband of Elizabeth Ludlow and lord of the manor, was rewarded by 

Charles II for his service in the Royalist cause during the civil war,277 and served as 

sheriff in 1662–3.278 Nevertheless, he was buried in a wooden tomb that was painted 

to look like stone,279 and none of his successors achieved the same prominence 

within the county. After the sale of the manor in 1737, the landlords were not 

resident within the parish. 

No public house is recorded, although the village carrier ran a shop in 1848.280 

Hill Deverill was probably a larger agricultural community in the Middle Ages than 

it was in the 19th and 20th centuries, when its population dwindled and its identity 

merged with its neighbour Longbridge Deverill.281  

 

Education 

Although schoolmasters were licensed either side of the Civil War,282 no school is 

recorded. The children were usually educated at Longbridge Deverill, where 22 

children attended Sunday school and three or four attended day school in 1819.283 

There was a Sunday school in Hill Deverill during the incumbency of Revd William 

Barnes,284 towards which the Duke of Somerset paid £4 in 1848,285 and £3 in 1857.286 

£1 of the duke’s money was donated to Longbridge Deverill,287 where 12 children 
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from Hill Deverill attended school in 1859.288 In 1864, children below the age of 12 

attended schools at Longbridge Deverill, Horningsham and Maiden Bradley, and 

adult education classes were held at Longbridge Deverill, although there was 

reluctance to attending night school outside the parish.289 

 

Charities 

At Christmas 1856, 12 tons of coal was distributed in the parish, and there was a 

clothing club at that date.290 In 1875, John Clifford of Brixton Deverill bequeathed 

£100 to Hill Deverill to provide eight elderly parishioners with coal and bread every 

Good Friday: in 1907, eight parishioners received 4½ cwt. of coal and 10 lbs. of bread 

each. Because this small parish had few needy inhabitants, it was suggested that the 

charity might also cover Longbridge Deverill.291 In 1952, the trustees brought the 

charity into line with modern requirements;292 it then covered the enlarged parish of 

Longbridge Deverill,293 but ceased to exist in 1993.294 

  

                                                           
288 Account of Wilts. Schools, 1859, p. 19. 
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290 WSA, 1332/20, parish accounts, Brixton Deverill and Hill Deverill, 3 Jan., 1857. 
291 Endowed Charities, 1908, p. 231. 
292 WSA, L 2/86. 
293 ‘Parochial Charities in Wiltshire’ (unpublished transcript, [n.d., c. 1980]) (copy in WSHC, local 
studies collns.). 
294 ‘John Clifford Charity (Reg. Charity 262607)’, The Charity Commission, http://www.charity-
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LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

Manor 

Brixton Deverill and Baycliffe came under the jurisdiction of the Selwood forest eyre 

in the 13th century.295 Manorial jurisdiction was exercised by the lords of the various 

manors: in 1356 the tenants of Thomas Carey, himself the tenant of a Giffard estate, 

owed suit of court at the Giffard honour court of Sherrington.296 In 1812, the Duke of 

Somerset’s agent held a court baron, when a hay-ward was appointed, and reported 

that the Duke of Marlborough continued to hold a court leet for the manor at 

Heytesbury.297  

 

Parish 

No records of parochial government survive for this small community until the 18th 

century.298 A parish meeting had been established by 1894,299 which ceased in 1934 

when Hill Deverill was annexed to Longbridge Deverill civil parish: from 1872 to 

1974 the area was under the authority of Warminster Rural District Council,300 and 

under West Wiltshire District Council from 1974 to 2009. 

 

Poor 

In the mid 18th century, the overseers of the poor were making regular payments to 

poor children and widows and the sick. Sums ranging from £30 in 1742 to £56 in 

1755 were spent on doles of wheat and fuel, making clothes and blankets, and 

burials. In 1742, the overseers provided indoor relief at ‘ye poor hose’, and were also 

paying some of the parish’s young ‘maids’ to nurse the elderly.301 The parish spent 

on average £48 between 1782 and 1785, and £61 the following year. Costs had risen 
                                                           
295 VCH Wilts. IV, 414–17. 
296 Cal. Inq. p.m. X, 260. 
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to over £174 for the year ending 1803, spent on permanently relieving 15 adults, six 

aged 60 or above, and 20 children, 12 aged under 5, and on occasional relief for a 

further 32 persons.302 Costs rose further to £281 for the year ending 1813, when 34 

adults were in permanent receipt of out-door relief, a number which dropped to 18 

the following year, rising again to 24 by Easter 1815, although only £99 was spent 

that year.303 The Overseers provided subsidised accommodation as well as doles of 

money and necessities: in 1813, they were leasing Mill Farm House, which had been 

subdivided into four tenements, and several cottages on poor, marshy ground by the 

river from the Duke of Somerset,304 the leases for which were renewed in 1826.305 The 

average expenditure was £115 in the three years before Hill Deverill joined 

Warminster Poor Law Union in 1835.306 The dramatic fall in expenditure after 1813 

enabled the parish to spend more on church rates, county rates and highway 

maintenance: in the year ending 1813 just £9 was spent, but in the next two years £40 

and £32 were spent.307 
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